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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
WESTERN DISTRICT OF WASHINGTON
AT TACOMA

JAY L. LAMB and SHARI D.
HULTBERG,

Plaintiff,
V.

MORTGAGE ELCTRONIC
REGISTRATION SYSTEMS, INC.,
CHICAGO TITLE COMPANY, LSI
DIVISION, THE BANK OF NEW YORK
MELLON TRUST COMPANY,
NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, and
GMAC MORTGAGE, LLC,

Defendants.

This matter comes before the court orfddelants Bank of New York Mellon Trust

CASE NO. C10-5856RJB

ORDER ON DEFENDANTS BANK
OF NEW YORK, MERS, AND
GMACS MOTION TO DISMISS
PLAINTIFFS AMENDED
COMPLAINT

Company, National Associatidfik/a The Bank of New York Trust Company, N.A., as

Successor to JP Morgan Chase Bank N.A., astée for RAMP 2004RS6 (Bank of New York);

Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems, Inc. (MERS); and GMAC Mortgage, LLC (GM
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Rule 12(b)(6) Motion to Dismiss PlaintifSmended Complaint. Dkt. 44. The court has
reviewed the relevant documents d@hne remainder of the file herein.

AMENDED COMPLAINT

On July 21, 2011, plaintiffs filed an Amerdi¥’erified Complaint. Dkt. 30. The
amended complaint alleges the following claimsréhief: (1) breach of@ntract, apparently for
defendants failure to answer a qualified et request, as is required by the Real Estate
Settlement Procedures Act (RESPA), 12 U.S.2605(e); (2) violation of the Fair Debt
Collection Practices Act (’]CPA), 15 U.S.C. 8 1692t seq, for failing to verify the alleged
debt and for failing to offer to validate the dtef3) violation of the Fair Credit Reporting Act
(FCRA), 15 U.S.C. § 1608, for erroneously rapay the alleged debt/ablation on plaintiffs
credit reports; (4) foreclosure of an incorrect Nlotg) wrongful foreclosure for failure to file a
tax return and statement showing that plainpftsperty was acquired as part of an asset poq|,
(6) lack of standing to foreclos®cause the Note at issue 1sa-negotiable sectyi (7) failure
to comply with the Washington Deed oftuist Act (DTA), RCW 61.24, because the Deed of
Trust was assigned to The Bank of New Yorkmiy-three days before the Truste€s sale

occurred; (8) slander ditle, based upon defendamecording of the Notie of Truste€s Sale; (¢

N

negligence for recording the Notice of Truste€s Sdl@) declaratory reliefon the basis that th

D

Mortgage Electronic Registration System (MERS8)Id not serve as ateficiary of the Note;
and (11) injunctive relief for materiglolation of the DTA. Dkt. 30, at 5-10.

MOTION TO DISMISS

On October 14, 2011, defendants the Bank®ifv York, MERS, and GMAC filed a

motion to dismiss plaintiffs amended complaimkt. 44. These defendants contend that the
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amended complaint fails to state a claim, érad the claims under the FDCPA and FCRA ar¢

barred by the statutes of limitations.

Chicago Title Company, LSI Division, has apped in this action, but has not filed a
motion to dismiss and has not joinedhe pending motion to dismiss. Dkt. 43.

On November 10, 2011, plaintiffs filed a resp®hs the motion to dismiss, arguing th4
because an Acknowledgement of the Statutoryrividly Deed was never recorded, plaintiffs
lacked the capacity to encumber the propertg,thrrefore, the Deed dirust is invalid; and
that, because the Deed of Trust is invalid, ded@tslare subject to the FDCPA, and violated
FDCPA by refusing to validate the debt. Dkt. 4Plaintiffs also maintain that the claims they
allege under the DTA are nearly identical to a pending case in the Washington Supreme
Alblice v. Dickenson

On November 17, 2011, the Bank of Newrk,ldMERS and GMAC filed a reply,
contending that the‘Certificate of Grantee Acktedgementwas of plaintiffs own creation, ar
was recorded in November of 2001; and filaintiffs arguments in their response about
standing under the FDCPA do not apply to thederdkants and are, in any event, time barre
Dkt. 48. These defendants also maintain thatlldmb made claims similar to the ones he r§
here in his bankruptcy action, &l.District Court of Washingh Case no. 11-16252; and that
bankruptcy court dismissed tbase and barred Mr. Lamtofn re-filing bankruptcy for one
year. Dkt. 48.

LEGAL STANDARD

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 8(a)(2) prasdhat a pleading must contain a“short 3
plain statement of the claim showithat the pleader is entitledtelief” Under Fed. R. Civ. P.

12 (b)(6), a complaint may be dismissed folfia to state a claim upon which relief can be

14

the

Court,

d
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granted’ Dismissal of a complaint may be base@ither the lack of a cognizable legal theor
or the absence of sufficient factieged under a cognizablegal theory.Balistreri v. Pacifica
Police Department901 F.2d 696, 699 (9th Cir. 1990). Whileeomplaint attacked by a Rule
12(b)(6) motion to dismiss does not need detddetlal allegations, a plaintiff's obligation to
provide the grounds of his entitlemt to relief requires more than labels and conclusions, al
formulaic recitation of the element$ a cause of action will not ddell Atlantic Corp. v.

Twombly 550 U.S. 544, 555 (2007in{ernal citations omitted

nd a

Accordingly,‘{tJo survive a motion to dismiss, a complaint must contain sufficient factual

matter, accepted as true, to‘state anclan relief that is plausible on its fat@shcroft v. Igbal
129 S.Ct. 1937, 1949 (2006iing Twombly at 570). A claim has*facial plausibilitywhen the

party seeking relief‘pleads factual content thiddws the court to draw the reasonable inferer

that the defendant is liabfer the misconduct allegedd. First,“a court considering a motion {o

dismiss can choose to begin by identifying piegs that, because they are no more than
conclusions, are not entitled tloe assumption of truthid., at 1950. Secondly,‘{w]hen there a
well-pleaded factual allegations, a court shagdume their veracity and then determine
whether they plausibly give rige an entitlement to reliefid. “In sum, for a complaint to
survive a motion to dismiss the non-conclusasttdial content, and reasonable inferences frg
that content must be plausibly suggestiva afaim entitling the pleader to reliefloss v. U.S.

Secret Service2009 WL 2052985 (9th Cir. July 16, 2009).

On a motion to dismiss, the court may consider documents relied on in a complaing

without converting the motion to one for summary judgméseie v. City of L.A.250 F.3d 668,
688-89 (§' Cir. 2001). A court may consider evidence on which the comfriegessarily relies

if: (1) the complaint refers to the document; (2 ttocument is central to the plaintiff's claim;

ce

re
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and (3) no party questions thetlznticity of the copy attached the Fed.R.Civ.P. 12(b)(6)

motion. Marder v. Lopez450 F.3d 445, 448 (9th Cir.2006). A court may treat such a docu

ment

as'part of the complaint, and thus may assuraeith contents are true for purposes of a motion

to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(8)hited States v. Ritchi&@42 F.3d 903, 908 (9th Cir.2003ee
Parrino v. FHP, Inc, 146 F.3d 699, 706 {aCir. 1998). Even if the plaintiffs complaint does n
explicitly refer to documents, glaintiffs predicate their clens on those documents, defendar
may rely on them). Further, pursuant to FedeE®d. 201, a court may ka judicial notice of
‘matters of public record'without convertirgmotion to dismiss into a motion for summary
judgment. Mack v. South Bay Beer Distrib., In€98 F.2d 1279, 1282 (9th Cir. 1986). In
addition, when a court takes judicial notice obter courts opinion, it may do so‘not for the
truth of the facts recited therein, but for théseence of the opinion, which is not subject to
reasonable dispute over its authenticitgé 250 F.3d at 690 (quotirgouthern Cross Oversea
Agencies, Inc. v. Wah Kwong Shipping Group 11, F.3d 410, 426-27 (3rd Cir. 1999)). A
court may not, however, take judicial notice ofatfthat is subject teeasonable dispute. Fed
R. Evid. 201(b).

The court has considered the documents iffsrattached to their amended complaint
including a copy of the Deed of Trust, thppgointment of Successor Trustee, the Notice of
Truste€s Sale, the assignment of the Deetra$t by MERS, and the Trustees Deed recorde
after the foreclosure sale. Dkt. 30, at 17-48esEhdocuments were attached to plaintiffs
amended complaint, and are properly considar@dnnection with this motion to dismiss. Th
court has also considered an October 5, 4 ParteOrder Dismissing Case and Barring
Debtor from Re-filing Bankruptcy for 1 Year; thdecument, filed in connection with the reply

is a matter of public record. Dkt. 48-1.

ot
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RELEVANT FACTS

Plaintiffs entered into a loan withd&a Home Mortgage, Inc. in the principal
amount of $249,600.00. Dkt. 30, at 17, 43. Tlanlwas secured by real property commonly
known as 8625 Orchard Avenue Southeast, Borhard, Washingtofthe Property). The
loan was memorialized by a Note and Deed of Trust. Dkt. 30, at 17-36. The Deed of Trus
recorded on April 29, 2004, under Kitsapubity Auditors file No. 200404290235. Dkt. 30, at
17. The Deed of Trust listed MERS as the m@a for the lender and the beneficiary under tf
Deed of Trust. Dkt. 30, at 18.
The Deed of Trust contains the following provision:
TRANSFER OF RIGHTS IN THE PROPERTY
The beneficiary of this Security InstrumestVMIERS (solely as nominee for Lender an
Lenders successors and assigns and the sucsesgbassigns of MERS. This Securit
Instrument secures to Lender: (i) the repaynoéithe loan, and atenewals, extensions
and modifications of the Note; and (iietlperformance of Borrowers covenants and
agreements under this Security Instrunsend the Note. For this purpose, Borrower
irrevocably grants and conveigs Trustee, in trust, witbower of sale, [the Property].
Dkt. 30, at 19.
The Deed of Trust further provided as follows:
Borrower understands and agréest MERS holds only legal kit to the interests grante
by Borrower in this Security Instrument, bifitnecessary to comply with law or custpn
MERS (as nominee for Lender and Lenderscgssors and assigns) has the right: to
exercise any or all of thoset@nests, including, but not lited to, the right to foreclose
and sell the Property; and to tadey action required of Lender][.]
Dkt. 30, at 19.
On March 27, 2009, MERS, acting as benafigiunder the Deed of Trust, appointed
Chicago Title Insurance Company, LSI Diwsj as Successor Trustee. Dkt. 30, at 38.

The Appointment of Successor Trusteeswacorded on April 1, 2009, under Kitsap

County Auditors file No. 200904010085. Dkt. 30, at 38.

5t was

e

< O

vd

ORDER ON DEFENDANTS BANK OF NEW
YORK, MERS, AND GMAC’S MOTION TO
DISMISS PLAINTIFFS’ AMENDED
COMPLAINT- 6



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

A Notice of Truste€s Sale was recorded on May 7, 2009, under Kitsap County
Auditor's file No. 200905070209. Dkt. 30, at 42. eTiNotice of Trustees Sale stated that
payments were in arrears (four paymentaliog $5,586.72). Dkt. 30, at 43. Notice of the
Default was transmitted to plaintiffs. Dkt. 30, at 43.

On October 28, 2009, after the Notice of Trustees Sale was recorded, but before ti
Trusteés Sale occurred, MERS, acting as nesifor Plaza Home Mortgage, assigned the D
of Trust and the Note to Bank of New York, as the successor to JPMorgan Chase. The
Assignment was recorded on November 23, 2008er Kitsap County Auditors file No.
200911230099. Dkt. 30, at 40.

The sale was held on November 20, 2009, the Truste€s Deed was recorded on
December 14, 2009, under Kitsap County Auditors file No. 20091214055. Dkt. 30, at 47-5

On November 19, 2010, Plaintiffs filed thésvsuit against the Bank of New York. On
July 21, 2011, plaintiffs filed an Amended i@plaint adding three defendants and numerous

claims. On the same date, plaintiffs filedaatversary complaint against Bank of New York,

raising the same issues in a bankruptcy casefilleeywith this court, case no. 11-16252-MLB|

The adversary action has now beesnissed by the bankruptcy court.

DISCUSSION

1. RESPA/Breach of Contract

Plaintiffs make a claim for breadi contract, apparently fatefendants failure to answzé
a qualified written request, as is required by RESPA.

RESPA creates a private right of action dmly three types of wrongful acts: (1)

payment of a kickback for reaktate settlement services,U35.C. $ 2607(d); (2) requiring a

ped

8
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buyer to use a title insurer seledtby the seller, 12 U.S.C. @8(b); and (3) failure by a loan
servicer to give proper notice of a transfesefvicing rights or toespond to a qualified
written request for informatioabout a loan, 12 U.S.C. § 26(5ee Glover v. Fremont Inv. &
Loan 2009 WL 51 14001 (N.D. Cal. 2009). In this cgdaintiffs contend tht defendants faile
to respond to a qualified written request.

Pursuant to § 2605(i), " secing' means receiving anytseduled periodic payments
from a borrower . . . and making the paymentgrofcipal and interest and such other payme
with respect to the amounts received from theedseer.” A qualified writt@ request is a writter
correspondence that enables the servicer tdifgene name and account of the borrower. 12
U.S.C. § 2605(e)(1). It alsotker includes a statement desardiwhy the borrower believes th
the account is in error or provides sufficient detathe servicer regding other information
sought by the borroweld. The loan servicer is requadéao respond by making appropriate
corrections to the borrower's account, if resagy, and, after conducting an investigation,
providing the borrower with a wtten clarificationor explanation. 12 U.S.C. § 2605(e)(2).

In their response to the motion to dismissjmiffs did not address the RESPA claim.
They appear to have abandoned the claim. Netexth, plaintiffs havaot alleged facts that
would support a claim for breach of contrdizised upon these defendants alleged failure to
respond to a qualified written request. The claim should be dismissed.

2. FDCPA

Plaintiffs contend that defielants violated the Fair DeCollection Practices Act
(FDCPA), 15 U.S.C. § 1692t seq, for failing to verify the allege debt and failing to offer to

validate the debt.

nts

at
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The FDCPA applies to‘debt collectors? W5S.C. § 1692a(6). FDCPASs definition of
debt collector does not include the consuncegglitors, a mortgage servicing company, or an
assignee of the debSee Lai v. American Home Servicing,.Jil&80 F.Supp. 2d 1218, 1224
(E.D. Cal. 2020)fuoting Perry v. Stewart Title Gor56 F.2d 1197 , 1208"%ir. 1985). See
also Cuddeback v. Land Home Financial Servie€d1 WL 903881, at *1-*2 (W.D. Wash.
2011)(if plaintiff can show that &n servicers began servicing the loan after the default occ
loan servicers would be debt aattors under 15 U.S.C. 1692(a)). In this case, plaintiffs hay

made no allegations sufficient to show thatttBank of New York or MERS was a servicer

within the meaning of the FDCPA. There isr@indication in the record that GMAC was the

mortgage servicer (Dkt. 1-1, at 12) but thereraréactual allegations that would support a cls
that GMAC was a debt collector under the FDCPA.

In their response to the motion to dismgsjntiffs advance a convoluted argument,
contending that, because an Acknowledgeroéttie Deed of Trust was not recorded,
defendants are subject to FDCPA. The Deetiro$t was recorded in Kitsap County on April
29, 2004. The recording of the Deed of Trust cli@spwvith a prerequisiteo a Truste€s Sale
under the DTA. See RCW 61.24.030(5). TheAOdoes not include a provision requiring

recording of an Acknowledgement of the Deddrust. This argument is frivolous.

Further, a one year statute of limitations &gwpto claims under the FDCPA. 15 U.S.C.

1692k(d). The one year limitation runsifin the date of the offending adilaas v. Stolmari30
F.3d 892 (9 Cir. 1997). In this case, the alleged metst have occurred prior to December 1
2009, the date the Trustees Deed was recorded théi@ rustees Sale. This case was filed Ji

21, 2011, beyond the one year statute of limitations.

irred,

e
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Plaintiffs claims based upon the FDCPA shobdddismissed as without merit, and as
barred by the statute of limitations.

3. FCRA

Plaintiffs claim that defendaswiolated the Fair Credit Rerting Act (FCRA), 15 U.S.Q.

8 1608, for erroneously reporting the alleged addbigation on plaintiffs credit reports.

Section 1608 is entitled'Views of Oth&gencies” This statute does not afford
individuals a private right of &ion. Further, plaintiffs do natllege which defendant allegedly
violated the FCRA or what information wasproperly reported in walation of FCRA.

The FCRA applies to‘consumer reports’'issued by a‘consumer reporting agency, as
defined by statute. 15 U.S.C. 81681 ( Plaintiffs did not respond this issue in their respons
they appear to have abandoned the claim.nyneaent, plaintiffs have failed to allege facts
showing that Bank of New York, MERS, or GMAdefendants meet the definition of a credit

reporting agency.

Plaintiffs cause of action for violation oféH-CRA fails to state a claim and should be
dismissed.

4. Other Claims

The other claims plaintiffs make in the @anded complaint relate to assignment of
interest in the Deed of Trust, the role of MERShe process, sectiration of the Note, and
unlawful foreclosure based uporetie alleged deficiencies.

MERS is a private electronic database,rafel by MERSCORP, tn, that tracks the
transfer of the‘beneficial interestin home loans, as well as any changes in loan servicers.
Cervantes v. Countrywide Home Loans .J2011 WL 3911031, *1 {9Cir. September 7,

2011). After a borrower takes out a home loan, the original lender may sell all or a portio

n of its
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beneficial interest in the loaand change loan serviceld. The owner of the beneficial interes

the Lender, is entitled to repayment of the lddn.The servicer of the loan collects payments

from the borrower, sends payments to the legraledl handles administragiaspects of the loar.

Id.

The claims plaintiffs make regarding the roleMERS is similar to other claims that
have been rejected in pasteadrought in this districee, e.g. Daddabbo v. Countrywide
Home Loans, In¢2010 WL 2102485 (W.D. Wash. May 20, 200@awter v. Quality Loan
Service Corp. Of Washingtagi®7 F.Supp.2d 1115, 1125-1126 (W.D. Wash. 2010). Further,
since the securitization meralyeates a separate contracstidict from plaintiffs debt

obligations under the Note and does not chahgeelationship of # parties in any way,

plaintiffs claims arising oubf the securitization failSee Commonwealth Prop. Advocates, LL

v. First Horizon Home Loan Corp 2010 WL 4788209, at *4 (D.Utah Nov. 16, 201§)dting
Larota—Florez v. Goldman Sachs Mortgage 4.9 F.Supp.2d 636, 642 (E.D.Va.2010).

Finally, plaintiffs claim regarding MERS isithout merit because they cannot establig
that they were misinformed about the MERStem, relied on any misinformation in entering
into the home loan, or were injaras a result of the misinformatid®ee Cervantes v.
Countrywide Home Loans, In@011 WL 3911031. In fact, the preions in the Deed of Trust
which plaintiffs signed, specifitig provided MERS with the riglstto foreclose and to sell the
property, and to transf interests under ¢hDeed of Trust.

These causes of action fail to statelaim and should be dismissed.

C

h
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5. Dismissal

Plaintiffs have been afforded an opportundyile an amended complaint, and they di
so. The claims they bring agar to be frivolousrad without merit. The complaint should be
dismissed with prejudice.

Accordingly, it is herebDRDERED that Defendants Rul&2(b)(6) Motion to Dismiss
Plaintiffs Amended Complaint (Dkt. 44) SRANTED. The claims against defendants the
Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, Natidisssociation/ f/k/a The Bank of New York
Trust Company, N.A., as Successor to JP Morgan Chase Bank N.A., as Trustee for RAM
2004RS6 (Bank of New York); Mtgage Electronic Registration Systems, Inc. (MERS); an
GMAC Mortgage, LLC (GMAC) ar®ISMISSED WITH PREJUDICE. The claims against
Chicago Title Company, UDivision, may proceed.

The Clerk is directed to send uncertified cométhis Order to all counsel of record ar
to any party appearingo seat said partys last known address.

Dated this 18th day of November, 2011.

fo ot

ROBERT J. BRYAN
United States District Judge

L
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